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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. First, whether the domestic purchase of unsponsored American 

Depository Receipts (ADRs) is sufficient to subject the foreign company to 

U.S. securities laws.  

2. Second, whether an employee who, at the insistence of a superior, 

inserts a false or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject 

to primary liability under Rule 10b5(a) or (c), even if that individual is not 

the maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b).
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This Court granted certiorari from a case arising under § 10(b) of the 

Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (“The Exchange Act”). R. 7. The original 

complaint was filed by Plaintiffs-Petitioners, Robert “Bobby” Maxelrod, the 

Connecticut-based manager of Maxe Capital, and those similarly situated 

(collectively “the hedge fund managers” or “Petitioners”) on September 6, 2018 

with the United States District Court for the District of Fordham. R. 7. The 

hedge fund managers brought claims against Alcollezione and its former 

executives, including Defendant-Respondent, Ava Cato, seeking compensatory 

damages from a securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. R. 7. 

Respondent filed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion on October 17, 2018 to dismiss 

the action for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. R. 7. 

She alleges that she was not involved in a domestic transaction within the 

purview of U.S. securities laws and thus the claims for securities fraud must be 

dismissed on the merits. R. 8. Respondent further moved to dismiss alleging 

that, because she was not the “maker” of the false statements under Rule 10b-

5(b), she could not be primarily liable under Rule 10b-5. R. 8. 

On November 21, 2018, the District Court ruled in favor of the hedge 

fund managers. R. 8. First, the court found that the defendants were involved 

in a domestic transaction sufficient for Section 10(b) to apply extraterritorially. 

R. 8. Second, the court rejected Respondent’s argument that she could not be 

primarily liable, instead finding that she effectively served as the disseminator 
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of allegedly false or misleading statements which subjected her to primary 

liability under 10b-5(a) and (c). R. 8. The Circuit Court reversed the District 

Court’s holding on both issues after Respondent sought interlocutory appeal 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b). R. 8. The hedge fund managers timely filed a 

writ of certiorari before this Court, which was granted on February 3, 2020. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Gianni Marconi is a New York native that specialized in developing 

private startups that chipped away at market leaders across various industries. 

R. 1. After years of success in the United States, in 2007, Mr. Marconi decided 

to move to his ancestral village in Sicily, to take time to himself. Id. While in 

Sicily Mr. Marconi started to explore how he could challenge the market-leader 

in the wine-and-spirits sector, Lampari Group. Id. Mr. Marconi became so 

enamored in this new venture that he included his friend from business school, 

Benny Factor. Id. Prior to transitioning to the CFO of Alcollezione, Benny 

Factor was a highly successful financial executive in New York. R. 2. Mr. 

Marconi traveled throughout Italy learning the ins and outs of the industry 

then reporting his findings to Mr. Factor. R. 1. Mr. Marconi and Mr. Factor 

were both intrigued by the challenge and pooled their finances together, 

officially launching Alcollezione in 2009. R. 2. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Factor 

moved to Italy to better serve the needs of Alcollezione. Id. 

The Respondent, Ava Cato, is a bright, Italian attorney that graduated at 

the top of her class at Sapienza Università di Roma. Id.  She was hired by her 

co-defendants, after a series of candidates were interviewed, for their open 
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General Counsel position at Alcollezione in 2009. Id. The co-defendants 

alongside Ms. Cato were fellow Alcollezione executives, Gianni Marconi and 

Benny Factor. Id.  One of her first duties at Alcollezione was to establish their 

headquarters in Milan and to structure Alcollezione as a Società per azioni, the 

Italian equivalent of a U.S. corporation. Id. 

 Alcollezione, was a beverage company specializing in spiked beverages. 

Id. Ms. Cato quickly familiarized herself with beverage quality control 

standards to ensure that Alcollezione was compliant with all regulations. Id. 

Alcollezione experienced early success and continued to grow by adding 

products. Id. Mr. Marconi and Mr. Factor needed more capital to expand into 

international sales. Id. Mr. Factor was able to convince Mr. Marconi that the 

best plan moving forward was to take Alcollezione public. R. 2, 3.  

 Alcollezione prepared for their 2011 initial public offering (IPO) by 

creating an “Investor Relations” section on its website where it posted financial 

statements, corporate disclosures, and other investment materials in English 

and Italian. R. 3. Alcollezione closed their IPO at 20,000,000 shares of common 

stock and listed them on the Borsa Italiana, the Italian stock exchange. Id. Mr. 

Marconi and Mr. Factor were still the majority shareholders. Id. Alcollezione 

was able to expand into markets in Europe and the United States because of 

the capital raised from the IPO. Id.  

In early 2016, Mr. Marconi, Mr. Factor and Ms. Cato traveled to the 

United States after Alcollezione became well established in the United States. 

Id. In New York, the three Alcollezione executives met with Doris Schutt, an 
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investment banker and a friend of Mr. Factor from his time as a senior 

financial executive. Id. Ms. Schutt recommended that Alcollezione consider 

sponsoring an American Depository Receipt (ADR). Id. In the Summer of 2016, 

Slow Company did a feature on ex-pat business icons, including Mr. Marconi, 

during which he told producers that he planned to remain in Italy, “but you 

never know what tomorrow holds.” R. 4. Following the media exposure from the 

feature, strong financials, and macroeconomic tailwinds, Alcollezione’s stock on 

the Borsa Italiana continued to rise. Id.  

 Although Marconi initially declined, he experienced a change of heart 

after her received a call from Ms. Schutt pertaining to her hedge fund friends’ 

interest in Alcollezione. R. 3-4. Ms. Schutt informed Mr. Marconi that she was 

considering an unsponsored ADR for Alcollezione at Hansen Bank and Trust, a 

New York depository institution. R. 4. Ms. Schutt purposely called Mr. Marconi 

prior to setting up the ADR, because she felt it was appropriate considering her 

relationship with Mr. Factor. Id. Mr. Marconi usually would not make financial 

decisions but felt comfortable working with Ms. Schutt because of her 

relationship with Mr. Factor. Id. Shortly thereafter, Hansen Bank and Trust 

filed a Form F-6 (as required by the Securities Act of 1933) to register the 

unsponsored ADR. Id. The ADRs traded over-the-counter (OTC) and were 

purchased by the Petitioners in New York and Connecticut with the assistance 

of Hansen Bank and Trust employees. Id. 

 Mr. Marconi became concerned for market share and chose to set up a 

meeting with Mr. Factor and Ms. Cato prior to the 2017 Annual Shareholders 
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Meeting. R. 4, 5. Mr. Marconi suggested a new product to adjust for consumer 

trends, a no calorie, high nutrient spiked sparkling water, that would have all 

of the “bubbly goodness” of their signature Prosescco. R. 5. Mr. Factor and Ms. 

Cato were immediately sold on the deal. Id. Ms. Cato and Mr. Marconi met 

separately to discuss the legality of the new product, which Ms. Cato informed 

Mr. Marconi that she would have to do some research to ensure the beverage 

would comply with Italian regulations. Id.  

 The week prior to the Annual Shareholders Meeting, Mr. Marconi was 

working on his slide deck that would convince investors that the company’s 

battle with Lampari still had its best days forthcoming. Id. The cornerstone of 

their presentation would be the announcement of their new Italian spiked 

mineral water, Frizzantissimo. Id. Mr. Marconi anticipated that investors would 

require assurances on the new product’s compliance with regulations. Id. Ms. 

Cato believed that compliance would be possible in the long-term, it would 

“seem unlikely in the short-term.” Id. Mr. Marconi told Ms. Cato “It is better to 

ask for forgiveness than permission.” Id. He also iterated to Ms. Cato that “this 

is happening with or without you.” Id. Ms. Cato subsequently drafted 

assurances that the product was to be approved and ready for market in 2018 

even though she was uncertain whether Frizzantissimo would comply with 

beverage regulations. Id. Ms. Cato inserted these into Marconi’s slide deck and 

footnoted Mr. Factor’s pro-forma financial statements. Id. 
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 Mr. Marconi delivered the slide deck, pro forma financial statements,1 

and proudly announced the launch of Frizzantissimo at the Annual 

Shareholders Meeting. R. 6. The investors and shareholders were impressed 

which caused the stock and ADRs to soar over 8% in after-hours trading. Id. 

The financial statements, the slide deck, a video of the announcement, and a 

press release were then posted to the Investor Relations section on 

Alcollezione’s website. Id. After the successful announcement, Ms. Schutt sent 

a congratulatory email to Mr. Factor and that she was looking forward to 

Alcollezione’s success. Id. The stock and ADRs grew another 14% through early 

winter 2018 with the hedge fund investors from the United States being the 

main driver of the ADR price increase. Id. The hedge fund managers had 

purchased Alcollezione ADRs in the United States between the date of the 

Annual Shareholders Meeting and March 14, 2018. R. 7. 

 On March 14, 2018, the Alcollezione team was notified that all 

production of Frizzantissimo must stop immediately, due to noncompliance 

with quality control standards in the beverage’s production. R. 6. Within hours 

the stock price fell nearly 29% while the ADR price tumbled nearly 27%. Id. Mr. 

Marconi, Mr. Factor and Ms. Cato all stepped down in their roles because they 

thought it was the best decisions for the company. Id. No investigation into the 

three executives has occurred by Italian or European authorities. R. 7. 

 
1 Pro forma financial statements are “intended to provide investors with information about the 

continuing impact of a transaction by showing how a specific transaction or group of 

transactions might have affected historical financial statements, illustrating the scope of the 

change in the registrant’s financial position and results of operations.” FINANCIAL REPORTING 

MANUAL, art. 11 § 3210.1S-X, SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION (Nov. 30, 2008). 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 The hedge fund managers respectfully request that this Court reverse the 

Appellate Court’s grant of Respondent’s 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to 

state a claim. When considering a motion to dismiss, the Court “must accept as 

true all of the factual allegations contained in the complaint,” and interpret the 

complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 

550 U.S. 544 (2007). A plaintiff alleging a 10b-5 violation will survive a motion 

to dismiss when he or she has alleged "enough facts to state a claim to relief 

that is plausible on its face” and “state[d] with particularity both the facts 

constituting the alleged [securities fraud] violation" and the other elements of 

the 10(b) cause of action. Iqbal v. Hasty, 490 F.3d 143, 157-58 (2d Cir. 2007); 

Tellabs, Inc., v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308 (2007).  

First, the hedge fund managers’ evidence of a domestic transaction of 

securities is sufficient to satisfy the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) 

of the Securities Exchange Act because the hedge fund managers can prove 

that the transactions occurred in the United States, and the hedge fund 

managers suffered irrevocable liability in the United States due to these 

transactions. Second, the hedge fund managers have alleged sufficient facts 

with particularity to demonstrate that Respondent should be held primarily 

liable for disseminating false statements with intent to defraud the hedge fund 

managers under Section 10b-5(a) and (c) notwithstanding incurring secondary 

liability for drafting the false statements under Section 10b-5(b). 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE HEDGE FUND MANAGERS UNDERTOOK A DOMESTIC 
TRANSACTION IN SECURITIES WHICH ALLOWS FOR THE 

EXTRATERRITORIAL APPLICATION OF SECTION 10(b). 
 

The hedge fund managers’ evidence of a domestic transaction of 

securities is sufficient to satisfy the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) 

of the Securities Exchange Act because the hedge fund managers can prove 

that the transactions occurred in the United States, and the hedge fund 

managers suffered irrevocable liability in the United States due to these 

transactions. The hedge fund managers purchased unsponsored ADRs of 

Alcollezione in New York and Connecticut and then suffered irrevocable liability 

at the cause of the fraud committed by Respondent and Alcollezione executives. 

This Court has held that Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act has an 

extraterritorial application when “the purchase or sale is made in the United 

States, or involves a security listed on a domestic exchange.” Morrison v. Nat’l 

Australian Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 269-70 (2010). 

Reversing the Order of Dismissal is appropriate in this case because (1) 

the hedge fund managers can establish that the purchase of the ADRs are 

domestic transactions; (2) even if the Court were to further the inquiry of 

domestic transactions, the hedge fund managers can prove that they incurred 

irrevocable liability in the United States; (3) the Appellate Court’s did not 

properly apply Morrison in reaching its decisions; and (4) public policy heavily 

favors protecting United States investors during domestic transactions. 
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A. THE HEDGE FUND MANAGERS CAN SURVIVE DISMISSAL BY 
SATISFYING THE TRANSACTIONAL TEST ADOPTED BY MORRISON 

FOR SECTION 10(b). 
 

This Court should reverse the Order of Dismissal because the hedge fund 

managers can, under the transactional test, prove that the transactions of the 

ADRs are domestic and that Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act applies 

extraterritorially. “It shall be unlawful for any person . . . [t]o use or employ, in 

connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national 

securities exchange or any security not so registered." 15 U.S.C. 78j(b) (2019). 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act carries a presumption that it does not apply 

extraterritorially. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 265. However, that presumption “is not 

self-evidently dispositive.” Id. This Court has held that Section 10(b) applies to 

“only transactions in securities listed on domestic exchanges, and domestic 

transactions in other securities.” Id. at 267. 

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 applies to securities defined to 

include “stock . . . any instrument commonly known as a ‘security’; or any . . . 

receipt for . . . any of the foregoing.” 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10); Marine Bank v. 

Weaver, 455 U.S. 551, 555-56 (1982). The term of what constitutes a security 

should be construed broadly. See Tcherepin v. Knight, 389 U.S. 332, 336 (1967) 

(describing that the term “security” includes many types of instruments that 

fall within the ordinary concept of a security.) 

Unsponsored ADRs can fall into the category of securities and be basis 

for sufficiently alleging a domestic violation under the Exchange Act. See 

Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 939 (9th Cir. 2018) (where the plaintiffs 
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purchased Toshiba ADRs that were unsponsored by an over-the-counter 

market the court held that the unsponsored ADRs were securities and that if 

purchased domestically could be domestic under the transactional test.) 

The presumption against extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) can 

be overcome by showing a domestic transaction in other securities. Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 265. The Exchange Act is not concerned with where the deception 

occurs but rather that the purchase or sale of securities in the United States. 

Id.; SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 820 (2002). Section 10(b) only punishes 

deceptive conduct “in connection with the purchase or sale of any security 

registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so registered.” 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); Zandford, 535 U.S. at 820.  

Transactions that occur outside of the United States will not be sufficient 

to satisfy as domestic. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 273. In Morrison, the plaintiffs 

were all Australian citizens that had purchased the bank’s Ordinary Shares. Id. 

at 253. The Ordinary Shares are equivalent to “common stock” in the United 

States. Id. at 250. These Ordinary Shares are traded on the Australian Stock 

Exchange Limited and other foreign exchanges; however, they are not traded 

on any exchange in the United States. Id. The defendant executives had 

manipulated the value of financial records to make the mortgage-servicing 

rights to appear more valuable than they were in reality. Id. at 252. All of the 

purchases in the plaintiffs’ complaint occurred outside of the United States. Id. 

at 273. The Court overturned prior 2nd Circuit decisions that used the 

“conduct and effects test” because of the “unpredictable and inconsistent 
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application.” Id. at 260-61. Additionally, the statutory language of Section 10(b) 

did not provide for any such test. Id. The Court instead determined that for 

“securities not registered on domestic exchanges, the exclusive focus on 

domestic purchase and sale is strongly confirmed by § 30(a).” Id. at 268. The 

Court held that because none of the transactions occurred in the United States 

that is was not domestic. Id. at 273. 

The focus of a domestic transaction is determined by where the 

transaction occurs. Id. at 268. Unlike the plaintiffs in Morrison, the hedge fund 

managers made all purchases of Alcollezione unsponsored ADRs in New York 

and Connecticut. R. 4. Further, the assistance to make these purchases all 

came from Hansen Bank and Trust, a depository trust located in New York. Id. 

Hansen Bank and Trust made sure that the forms would be compliant by filing 

the Form F-6 necessary to register the unsponsored ADR. Id.  Moreover, all of 

the petitioners are United States citizens who purchased ADRs in the United 

States indicating the predominantly domestic nature of the transactions. Id. 

Thus, this Court should hold that the hedge fund managers have 

provided ample evidence to prove that the transactions were sufficiently 

domestic, and that Section 10(b) should be applied extraterritorially. 

B. THE HEDGE FUND MANAGERS’ PURCHASE OF THE ADRs IS 
DOMESTIC BECAUSE IT SATISFIES THE IRREVOCABLE LIABILITY 
TEST. 

 

This Court should reverse the Order of Dismissal, even if the Court does 

not end the inquiry with the transactional test, because title of the ADRs was 

transferred within the United States, satisfying the irrevocable liability test. “To 
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sufficiently allege the existence of a domestic transaction on other securities, 

plaintiffs must allege facts indicating that irrevocable liability was incurred or 

that title was transferred within the United States.” Absolute Activist Value 

Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 62 (2d Cir. 2012).  

“For Irrevocable liability to be incurred in the U.S. it suffices that ‘the 

purchaser incurred irrevocable liability within the United States to take and 

pay for a security.’” Adderly v. Dingman, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 54610 at *17 

(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2017) (quoting Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 68). The 

placement of purchase orders is relevant to when and where irrevocable 

liability occurs. Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 70.  

A party’s residence is irrelevant for determining if title transferred in the 

location of the resident country. Id. at 69. See also Plumbers’ Union Local No. 

12 Pension Fund v. Swiss Reinsurance Co., 753 F. Supp. 2d 166, 178 (S.D.N.Y. 

2010) (holding that residence of either party will not be indicative of if the 

transaction occurred was domestic.)  The plaintiff must sufficiently allege that 

the transactions themselves took place in the United States. Absolute Activist, 

677 F.3d at 69.  

When a sale of securities occurs within the United States, title has also 

transferred in the United States. Quail Cruises Ship Mgmt. v. Agencia de 

Viagens CVC Tur Limitada, 645 F.3d 1307, 1310-11 (11th Cir. 2011). In Quail 

Cruises, the transaction of the defendant’s stock closed in Miami, Florida. Id. at 

1310. The purchase and sale agreement confirmed that at the domestic 

closing, title was transferred constituting a sale. Id. The Court held that this 
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transfer of title was sufficient to fall within the extraterritorial reach of Section 

10(b). Id. at 1310.  

Title transfer of securities within the United States will be sufficient to 

satisfy Section 10(b) extraterritorial reach. Id. Similar to the plaintiff in Quail 

Cruises, the hedge fund managers purchased the ADRs in the United States. R. 

4. The ADRs were traded over-the-counter only in New York and Connecticut 

via phone. Id.  Further, Hansen Bank and Trust was the depository bank that 

set up these ADRs which is located in New York. Id. ADRs are securities and 

the hedge fund managers purchased these ADRs from after Annual 

Shareholders Meeting until March 14, 2018 when Alcollezione was found to be 

out of compliance with quality regulations. R. 7. Consistent with Absolute 

Activist, the hedge fund managers incurred irrevocable liability the moment 

they completed purchases of the ADRs in the United States. Id. 

 Thus, this Court should reverse the Order of Dismissal because the 

transfer of title of the ADRs occurred within the United States, the hedge fund 

managers incurred irrevocable liability and is sufficient to apply the 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. 

C. THE APPELLAT COURT’S RELIANCE ON PARKCENTRAL IS 
INCONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT’S DECISION IN MORRISON. 

 

This Court should reverse the Order of Dismissal because the Appellate 

Court’s reliance on Parkcentral is inconsistent with this Court’s prior analysis 

of determining whether to apply Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act 

extraterritorially. “It is our function to give the statute the effect its language 
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suggests, however modest that may be; not to extend it.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 

270. 

In Parkcentral, the security at issue was a securities-based swap 

agreement. Parkcentral Global Hub v. Porsche Automobile Holdings, 763 F.3d 

198, 205 (2d Cir. 2014). Securities-based swap agreements do not confer 

ownership interest in those securities. Id. at 205-07. Further, securities-based 

swap agreements are not directly correlated to the value of their referenced 

security. Id. The Parkcentral Court created a “predominantly foreign” standard 

based solely on a hypothesized congressional intent to not regulate acts that 

would be “predominantly foreign.” Id. at 215. Additionally, the Parkcentral 

Court relied on the foreign location of the potentially deceptive conduct. Id. at 

215-16. 

In Morrison, this Court relied exclusively on the text of 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) 

that Section 10(b) will apply extraterritorially for domestic transactions in other 

securities. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267. Additionally, unlike Parkcentral, this 

Court determined that the location of the deceptive conduct was irrelevant, and 

that the focus of whether it is sufficiently domestic focuses on the transaction. 

Id. at 266-68. Moreover, this Court specifically renounced the “conducts and 

effects test” and presumably a “predominantly foreign” standard because they 

cannot be applied consistently and gamble with congressional intent. Id. at 

261.  

The ADRs that the Petitioner hedge fund managers purchased confer 

ownership and are closely tied with the value of the stock traded on the foreign 



  P02 

 

15 
 

exchange market. R. 6. This is contrary to the securities purchased in 

Parkcentral where the securities-based swap agreements do not confer 

ownership and have no direct relation to the value of the stock. Additionally, 

the Appellate Court relied upon a “predominantly foreign” standard which is 

inconsistent with Morrison’s repudiation of inconsistent tests. R. 15. The 

Appellate Court relies upon the location of fraudulent misstatements and the 

residence of who made them rather than focusing on the transactions 

themselves, as instructed by Morrison. R. 15.  

Thus, this Court should reverse the Order of Dismissal because the 

Appellate Court misapplied the rationale of Morrison by relying on a directly 

inconsistent and unsupported “predominantly foreign” standard and determine 

that the transactions in the United States allow for an extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b). 

D. AS A MATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY, THIS COURT SHOULD HOLD 

THAT SECTION 10(b) HAS AN EXTRATERRITORIAL APPLICATION 
FOR TRANSACTIONS THAT OCCUR IN THE UNITED STATES. 

 

This Court should reverse the Order of Dismissal and determine that the 

domestic purchase of ADRs is within the extraterritorial reach of Section 10(b). 

The United States has a strong interest in enforcing its securities law. In re 

Royal Ahold N.V. Sec. & ERISA Litig., 351 F. Supp. 2d 334, 353-54 (D. Md. 

2004). The competing interest of “applying the U.S. securities laws to overseas 

transactions with the obligation to recognize Congress’s desire that the United 

States not be used ‘as a base for manufacturing fraudulent security devices for 

export’” is one that as a matter of public policy leans in favor of security for 
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United States citizens. Id. at 361 (quoting Itoba Ltd. v. Lep Group PLC. 54 F.3d 

118, 122 (2d Cir. 1995)). 

In In re Royal Ahold N.V. Sec. & ERISA Litig., the defendants were 

executives for a Netherlands domiciled company. Id. at 353. The company 

generated a majority of its sales within the United States. Id. The claims 

against the defendants included a violation of Rule 10b-5 for inaccurate 

promotion of financial statements. Id at 345. The securities at issue included 

Royal Ahold ADRs that traded on the New York Stock Exchange. Id. The Court 

determined that as a matter of public policy the United States had a significant 

interest in protecting investors when the harm happened in the United States 

and affected United States citizens. Id. at 353. Civil and criminal investigations 

of the violations commenced in the United States and Europe. Id. at 346. 

In Morrison, this Court repudiated a broad reading of Section 10(b) by 

holding that Section 10(b) is presumed not to apply extraterritorially unless the 

transactions are made in the United States or involves a security on a domestic 

exchange. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 269-70. By reaching this conclusion, this 

Court created a transactional test that should have erased doubts that other 

subjective tests had previously created. Id.  

Even though In re Royal Ahold N.V. Sec. & ERISA Litig. applied the 

“conducts and effects test” repudiated by Morrison, the public policy rationale 

of applying Section 10(b) extraterritorially remains. Similar to the plaintiffs in 

In re Royal Ahold N.V. Sec. & ERISA Litig., the hedge fund managers purchased 

ADRs in the United States. R. 4. Additionally, the hedge fund managers were 
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the driving force behind the ADRs. Id. The Appellate Court reasoned that 

because no investigation had started in Europe that it may create conflicts with 

the case however the court in In re Royal Ahold N.V. Sec. & ERISA Litig. did not 

view that as a controlling factor and therefore the mere fact that Europe has 

not started an investigation of Respondent should not be a controlling for 

whether Section 10(b) should apply extraterritorially. Id. The hedge fund 

managers seek a clear standard, like the transactional test from Morrison, so 

that the law may be applied consistently unlike previous tests adopted by 

various Circuit Courts prior to this Court’s decision in Morrison. Moreover, the 

hedge fund managers and future investors deserve to be protected when they 

are operating in the United States. The United States has a significant interest 

in not allowing foreign companies to commit fraudulent conduct on security 

interests where the United States investors can be significantly harmed. 

As a matter of public policy, this Court should follow the transactional 

test and protect United States investors by applying Section 10(b) 

extraterritorially when a securities transaction occurs in the United States. 

II. RESPONDENT SHOULD BE HELD PRIMARILY LIABLE FOR 
DISSEMINATING FALSE STATEMENTS, NOTWITHSTANDING 

INCURRING SECONDARY LIABILITY FOR DRAFTING FALSE 
STATEMENTS. 

 

Respondent should be held primarily liable for disseminating false 

statements with intent to defraud the hedge fund managers notwithstanding 

incurring secondary liability for drafting the false statements. The Exchange 

Act creates liability for those who, directly or indirectly, “use or employ, in 
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connection with the purchase or sale of any security, . . . any manipulative or 

deceptive device or contrivance in contravention” of the rules contained therein. 

15 U.S.C.S. § 78j(b). Section 10b-5 specifically prohibits: “(a) employ[ing] any 

device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, (b) mak[ing] any untrue statement of a 

material fact or . . . omit[ting] . . . a material fact . . . or (c) engag[ing] in any 

act, practice, or course of business which operates . . . as a fraud,” in 

connection with a securities transaction. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2019).  

Although the regulation itself does not expressly provide a private right of 

action, this Court has implied this right. Superintendent of Ins. of N. Y. v. 

Bankers Life & Casualty Co., 404 U.S. 6, 13, n. 9 (1971). However, this right 

does not include suits against those who merely provide substantial assistance 

in a 10b-5 violation. Cent. Bank of Denver, N. A. v. First Interstate Bank of 

Denver, N. A., 511 U.S. 164, 190 (1994). Those who provide only assistance are 

secondarily liable while those who personally violate are primarily liable. See id. 

The distinction between the two determines the consequences of a 10b-5 

violation, although “[o]ver the years, the Court has viewed the distinction 

between primary and secondary liability as fluid and changing over time.” 

Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148, 162-63.  

Respondent’s conduct not only gives rise to secondary liability, but 

primary liability as well, per this Court’s recent holding in Lorenzo. First, the 

scope of Lorenzo’s holding encompasses the Respondent’s conduct despite 

incurring secondary liability under Section 10b-5(b). Second, Respondent’s 

dissemination of fraudulent statements constitutes a primary violation under 
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Section 10b-5(a) and (c). Therefore, Respondent should be held primarily liable 

for her conduct and her 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss denied. 

A. FOLLOWING THIS COURT’S HOLDING IN LORENZO, RESPONDENT’S 
SECONDARY LIABILITY UNDER 10b-5(b) DOES NOT PRECLUDE 
LIABILITY UNDER 10b-5(a) AND 10b-5(c). 

 

Following the precedent established in Lorenzo, Respondent’s exposure to 

secondary liability for substantially assisting a violation of 10b-5(b) does not 

preclude finding primary liability under 10b-5’s remaining subsections. Section 

10b-5(b) prohibits “mak[ing] any untrue statement of a material fact or . . . 

omit[ting] . . . a material fact.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(b). To be primarily liable 

under 10b-5(b), a violator must be more than a mere “speechwriter” who drafts 

a statement that another makes. Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative 

Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 145 (2011) (stating “[e]ven when a speechwriter drafts a 

speech, the content is entirely within the control of the person who delivers it. 

And it is the speaker who takes credit--or blame--for what is ultimately said.”)  

On the contrary, secondary liability arises for aiding and abetting a 

violation of 10b-5 and can occur concurrently with primary liability. Lorenzo v. 

SEC, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1102 (2019). Respondent’s drafting of false statements, 

which were subsequently “made” by Marconi, exposed her to secondary liability 

for aiding and abetting under Section 10b-5(b). Nonetheless, Respondent can 

incur primary liability under subsections (a) and (c) provided that other aspects 

of her conduct meet the requirements therein, the latter being decided by a 

finder of fact.  
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1. RESPONDENT’S DRAFTING OF FALSE STATEMENTS ON BEHALF OF 
THE FORMER EXECUTIVES SUBJECTS HER TO SECONDARY 

LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 10b-5(b). 
 

Because Respondent did not “make” the false statements contained in 

Marconi’s slide deck and the pro forma financial statements, she incurred 

secondary liability for aiding and abetting a violation of 10b-5(b). Secondary 

liability is incurred when a defendant’s conduct “is a substantial causal factor 

in the perpetuation of the underlying fraud.” Id. The violator must have 

knowingly assisted another, having a general awareness that he is participating 

in overall improper activity. Sanders Confectionery Prods. v. Heller Fin., Inc., 

973 F.2d 474, 486 (6th Cir. 1992); see also Cent. Bank, N.A. v. First Interstate 

Bank, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 180 (1994) (holding that the reliance on a statement 

or omission is necessary to succeed on a claim for secondary, as well as 

primary, liability under 10b-5(b)). 

Respondent substantially assisted Marconi’s own fraudulent conduct by 

drafting the misleading statements and placing them in his slide deck to be 

later “made” by Marconi during the investors meeting. R. 6. Respondent’s role 

for this aspect of her conduct was as the “speechwriter” for Marconi’s slide 

deck. Her drafting of the false assurances substantially assisted Marconi’s 

fraud. Although Marconi stated that he would utilize such statements with or 

without her, such statements would not have been possible without 

Respondent’s legal opinion. Id. 5. Therefore, Respondent is, at minimum, 

secondarily liable under Section 10b-5(b). 



  P02 

 

21 
 

2. REGARDLESS OF SECONDARY OR PRIMARY LIABILITTY UNDER 
10b-5(b), THE HEDGE FUND MANAGERS ARE STILL ENTITLED TO 

INQUIRY UNDER 10b-5(a) AND (c). 
 

Applying this Court’s holding in Lorenzo, Respondent’s dissemination of 

false statements in the pro forma and the corporation’s website goes beyond 

mere drafting of statements, thus exposing her to primary liability under 10b-

5(a) and (c). This Court has emphasized repeatedly that the broad language of 

Section 10b “should be ‘construed not technically and restrictively, but flexibly 

to effectuate its remedial purposes’” SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 819 (2002). 

The Lorenzo Court affirmed this logic, holding that the subsections do not 

operate in a mutually exclusive manner; rather, if a defendant fails to meet 

criteria for one, another may apply. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1098-99.   

A finding of secondary liability under 10b-5(b) does not prevent 

concurrent primary liability under 10b-5(a) and (c). Id. at 1104. The Lorenzo 

decision involved an SEC enforcement action against a director of investment 

banking, who distributed, via email, false messages about the valuation of his 

client company’s assets. Id. at 1099. Although the defendant expressed 

skepticism regarding the valuation and was outrightly told that the client’s 

assets were much lower than originally reported, the defendant nonetheless 

sent two emails to prospective investors describing the investment as including 

inflated confirmed assets. Id. The defendant signed the emails with his name 

and title, inviting email recipients to reach out to him with any questions. Id.  

This Court held that “dissemination of false or misleading statements 

with intent to defraud can fall within the scope of subsections (a) and (c) of 
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Rule 10b-5, as well as the relevant statutory provisions . . . even if the 

disseminator did not ‘make’ the statements,” precluding application of 

subsection (b). Id. at 1101. The defendant “sent false statements directly to 

investors, invited them to follow up with questions, and did so in his capacity 

as vice president of an investment banking company.” Id. However, in 

describing the scope of its holding, this Court noted that borderline cases may 

arise in which the application of this rule, in light of “purpose, precedent, and 

circumstance,” should be limited. Id. (providing the example of “other actors 

tangentially involved in dissemination—say, a mailroom clerk—for whom 

liability would typically be inappropriate”).  

This Court emphasized that its holding in Lorenzo did not disturb its 

prior holdings in Janus, Stoneridge, and Central Bank; rather, it maintained an 

administrable, “clean” rule. Id. Compare id. at 1099 (explaining that Lorenzo 

“consider[ed] whether those who do not “make” statements . . . but who 

disseminate false or misleading statements to potential investors with the 

intent to defraud, can be found to have violated the other parts of Rule 10b-5”) 

with Janus, 564 U.S. at 137, 142 (explaining that defendants could not be held 

liable under 10b-5(b) for placing misleading statements in prospectuses that 

investors relied on because only “the person or entity with ultimate authority 

over the statement, including its content and whether and how to communicate 

it” can “make” a false statement) with Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 159 (explaining 

that recovery was not permitted when defendants’ conduct was not 

communicated to the public because a victim’s reliance on the defendant's 
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deceptive acts is a necessary element of any Section 10b-5 private cause of 

action) with Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191 (explaining that a private suit for 

aiding and abetting cannot be brought under 10b-5(b) but this does not mean 

that secondary actors are always free from liability because any individual, 

including a lawyer, who employs a manipulative device on which a victim relies 

on can be held liable as a primary violator, assuming all of the requirements 

under the relevant subsection are met). 

This Court, in Lorenzo, expressly stated that the subsections are not 

mutually exclusive. While it recognized that the narrowing of its holding may 

be necessary in particular, but not readily identifiable circumstances, 

Respondent’s conduct does not create such necessity. Although Lorenzo 

involved an SEC enforcement action, making the distinction between primary 

and secondary liability less critical, this fact alone does not represent a 

situation that was beyond this Court’s contemplation in Lorenzo. The 

distinction between private and administrative action, although a 

distinguishing factor between Lorenzo and the present case, does not implicate 

the Lorenzo Court’s concerns about borderline case, including the application 

of its holding to tangential actors. 

 Lorenzo’s application to the present case does not upend Janus, as the 

Appellate Court suggests. Contrary to the present case, Janus addresses and 

provides guidance only for a primary violation of 10b-5(b), not the remaining 

subsections. Its holding is meant to define who is a “maker” of a false 

statement and prevent primary liability for those “speechwriters” who are 
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acting on the direction of a supervisor, but with no ability to control what 

happens to his speech after he passes it along. 

Respondent’s conduct is not “borderline,” rather, it lies well-within the 

contemplation of this Court in Lorenzo. Respondent’s inability to meet the 

requirements of primary liability for drafting of the false statements does not 

end the inquiry. Although Respondent’s drafting of the statements for 

Marconi’s presentation makes her a “speechwriter.” viewed alone, this is an 

overly simplistic understanding of her conduct. R. 6. She placed the statements 

not only in the slide deck for Marconi to share at the Annual Shareholder’s 

Meeting, but also in the pro forma financial statements, which were distributed 

at the meeting. Id. Copies of both documents were posted on the company’s 

“Investor Information” page, giving unlimited, international access to the false 

statements created by Respondent. Id. Based on her discussion with the former 

executives prior to the drafting of the statements, Respondent was aware of the 

role her actions would play in the larger fraudulent scheme and nonetheless 

made a knowing choice to further the scheme. This conduct reaches far beyond 

that of a secretary or mailroom clerk whose role has nothing to do with the 

substance of the false statement he or she transmits. Respondent participated 

actively in the perpetration of this fraud. Janus addresses only primary liability 

by the “maker” of fraudulent statements under 10b-5(b), not conduct, which is 

controlled by subsections (a) and (b). To view Respondent’s conduct narrowly, 

as limited merely to her drafting of the statement for Marconi’s PowerPoint 
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would allow a loophole for responsible parties to escape liability if they are able 

to downplay their participation in a scheme as mere drafters of statements. 

 This Court, in Lorenzo, disposed of the argument that the reach of such a 

flexible interpretation of the 10b-5 subsections would sweep up less culpable 

parties, no matter how remotely involved, such as secretaries and mailroom 

clerks. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. Respondent’s participation was far more 

involved than a secretary or clerk who is farther down in the chain of 

dissemination and far more lacking in culpability. R. 5-6. Respondent employs 

her own manipulative acts by disseminating fraudulent statements in her role 

as in-house counsel for the company. Id. 2, 5-6. This view of the 10b-5 

subsections does not contradict this Court’s precedent; rather, a violator who 

fails to meet the requirements of 10b-5(b), which were clarified in Janus and 

Stonebridge, is able to proceed under 10b-5(a) and (c) provided that he meets 

the requirements therein. Therefore, regardless of Respondent’s liability under 

10b-5(b), she must be allowed to proceed under 10b-5(a) and (c), provided that 

she meets their requirements. 

B. RESPONDENT CAN BE HELD PRIMARILY LIABLE FOR EMPLOYING A 
DEVICE TO DEFRAUD UNDER SECTION 10b-5(a) AND ENGAGING IN 

AN ACT THAT OPERATED AS FRAUD UNDER SECTION 10b-5(c). 
 

Respondent should be held primarily liable for employing a device to 

defraud and engaging in an act that operated as fraud when she disseminated 

false information to the hedge fund managers. A claim under these subsections 

involves manipulative conduct or deceptive acts beyond mere disclosure or 

omission of material facts. In re Parmalat Sec. Litig., 376 F. Supp. 2d 472, 510 
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(S.D.N.Y. 2005); Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 158 (stating that “[c]onduct itself can 

be deceptive” and a “course of conduct [can include] both oral and written 

statements, such as the backdated contracts”). Having established the hedge 

fund managers are allowed to proceed under Section 10b-5’s remaining 

subsections, the hedge fund managers have pled facts, with particularity, 

demonstrating a plausible claim that Respondent has disseminated false 

information, creating liability under both Section 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c).  

1. RESPONDENT IS LIABLE UNDER SECTION 10b-5(a).  

Section 10b-5(a) prohibits one from “employ[ing] any device, scheme, or 

artifice to defraud” in the purchase or sale of securities. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-

5(a). The dictionary defines a “device” as “‘[t]hat which is devised, or formed by 

design’”; a “‘scheme’” is a “‘project,’” “‘plan[,] or program of something to be 

done’”; and an “‘artifice’” is “‘an artful stratagem or trick.’” Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 

at 1101 (citations omitted). The dictionary defines “disseminate” as “spread[ing] 

abroad as though sowing seed disseminate ideas” or “dispers[ing] throughout.” 

Disseminate, Merriam-Webster Dictionary (11th ed. 2003). 

The dissemination of false or misleading material can constitute an 

“artful stratagem” or a “plan,” “devised” to defraud under 10b-5(a). Lorenzo, 

139 S. Ct. at 1099. In Lorenzo, this Court found that that “by sending emails 

[the defendant] understood to contain material untruths, [he] ‘employ[ed]’ a 

‘device,’ ‘scheme,’ and ‘artifice to defraud’ within the meaning of subsection (a)” 

notwithstanding doing so at the insistence of his boss. Id. at 1101.  
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This Court explained that the 10b-5 provisions include a wide range of 

conduct, and although the potential for cases “on the margins” exists, there 

was “nothing borderline” about the Lorenzo defendant’s dissemination of false 

information to prospective investors with the intent to defraud. Id. See, e.g., 

Bristol Myers, 586 F. Supp. 2d 148, 169-70 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (holding that a 

senior executive was liable under 10b-5(a) when he failed to negotiate a 

settlement agreement in good faith and failed to correct the company’s material 

misstatements because the public relied on the information, even though it was 

the client company, not the executive who communicated the information and 

because the defendant’s conduct was “at the heart of [the company’s] false and 

misleading conduct”). But see Stoneridge, at 166-67, 770 (holding that 

complicit participation by outside suppliers in a cable company's fraudulent 

scheme were too remote from the investing public to satisfy the reliance 

element of the 10(b) because it had no role in preparing or disseminating the 

cable company’s false financial statements and their own financial statements 

were not fraudulent; thus, investors could not have relied upon defendants’ 

deceptive acts in the larger scheme). 

Respondent’s conduct was “at the heart” of the company’s fraudulent 

scheme. Although she may not have been the scheme’s mastermind, her 

authority to research and convey information regarding regulatory compliance 

the central aspect of the fraud as a whole. R. 5. She utilized her expertise and 

role in the company to employ a plan and strategy that the former executives 

concocted. Id. 5-6. Her participation goes beyond that of the mere mailroom 
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clerk, who passes along information that was designed by another, acting as a 

necessary part of the furtherance of the scheme, but whose expertise and 

actions are replaceable. Rather, Respondent spread and dispersed the 

information by knowingly placing it into documents which we guaranteed to be 

distributed to current and potential investor. Id. 5-6. 

Respondent’s “device” was the act of dissemination of the false 

statements. This is far more than the substantial assistance required for 

secondary liability for aiding and abetting. Like the defendant in Lorenzo whose 

boss also had control over dissemination, it insignificant that Respondent did 

not have sole control of dissemination of the statement, because sole control 

and authority is only a requirement for primary liability under 10b-5(b). 

Respondent should not be liable because she is merely a complicit participant 

or tangential actor; rather, her acts are more similar to those of a co-

conspirator, who not only assisted the former executives in their perpetration 

of fraud, but actively employed her own fraudulent act of dissemination.  

Respondent understood the scheme more intimately than a tangential 

actor, such as the defendant in Stoneridge. R. 5-6. The fact of less parties and 

less complexity does not mean such plan is less likely to be a scheme. 

Respondent was not only aware of the scheme; she employed her expertise as a 

device to further the scheme. Id. Although she was hesitant, skeptical, and 

acted at insistence of supervisor, her role was no lesser. Id. at 5. To hold such 

would create poor policy, as only a scheme’s mastermind could be held liable, 

while others who had actively facilitated the scheme are not. Therefore, the 
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hedge fund managers have alleged sufficient facts demonstrating that 

Respondent is liable under Section 10b-5(a). 

2. RESPONDENT IS LIABLE UNDER SECTION 10b-5(c).  

Respondent is likewise liable under Section 10b-5(c), which prohibits 

“engag[ing] in a[n] act, practice, or course of business” that “operates . . . as a 

fraud or deceit.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(c). The words “act” and “practice” are 

expansive. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101 (defining “act” as “a doing” or a “thing 

done” and defining “practice” as an “action” or “deed”) (citations omitted).  

This Court, in Lorenzo, held that the defendant’s dissemination of false 

information through email constituted an act operating as fraud. Id. See also 

Scholnick v. Schecter, 752 F. Supp. 1317, 1318 (E.D. Mich. 1990) (holding that 

investors could overcome a 12(b)(6) motion by sufficiently alleging a claim of 

scheme liability under 10b-5(a) and (c) when a corporation failed to disclose 

that investors’ money was not being used in the manner that the investors had 

agreed to, and instead was being used to repay the debt of a company the 

corporation owned).  

Little difference exists between Respondent’s conduct and that of the 

Lorenzo and Scholnick defendants. Respondent placed false statements in 

documents that were disseminated to investors at the Annual Shareholders 

Meeting. R. 6. The investors were introduced to the fraudulent assurances 

through Marconi’s presentation. Id. In addition, the placing of the statements 

in the pro forma financial statements, a legally required document, and the 

posting of both the financial statements and the slide deck on the company 
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website provided apparent credibility for Marconi’s presentation. Id. It was 

these actions together that induced the investors’ reliance, implicating primary 

actors beyond Marconi, who presented the actual false statements. Id.  

The investors are unlikely to have relied on Respondent’s conduct to the 

extent they did if the statements had not been disseminated by Respondent 

outside of the presentation. Although no evidence shows that her name was 

placed with the statements, identifying authorship, her participation is implied 

by her role as one of three senior executives within the company. The hedge 

fund managers relied on Respondent’s assurances even though they may not 

have been attributed specifically to her in Marconi’s presentation. Id. The 

attribution of her conduct is not necessary to find liability under 10b-5(a) or (c), 

rather it is reliance on her conduct must be shown. Therefore, the hedge fund 

managers have alleged sufficient facts demonstrating that Respondent’s 

conduct operated as fraud in violation of Section 10b-5(c). 

III. CONCLUSION 

 Therefore, for the foregoing reasons, the hedge fund managers 

respectfully request that this Court reverse the Appellate Court’s decision to 

grant Respondent’s motion to dismiss.  

Dated: March 2, 2020 

Respectfully submitted, 

       /s/ Team P02       
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Counsel for Petitioners 

 


